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Churchill was dubbed ‘the unsinkable politician’ by the Morning Post when he returned to office in 1917.
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PRELUDE


On 11 November 1918, Lloyd George, the Prime Minister, called a meeting of his Cabinet. Of those ministers who had gone to war on 4 August 1914, only two were at the Cabinet table to savour the fruits of victory: Lloyd George and Winston Churchill.


They had survived for two reasons: they were the only two senior politicians who understood war and the only two who had the courage to wage it. They were fearless, ruthless and determined.


Lloyd George’s role in the war was uncomplicated. He was one of the few strategic thinkers in the Cabinet. Free of any connections with the army or the aristocracy, he was able to bring a fresh, pragmatic eye to the problems of the war. His innate cunning enabled him to outmanoeuvre anyone who was less committed. Alien as war was to his character, to him defeat was inconceivable.


As to Churchill, he was born for war and from early childhood had been enthralled by the stories of battles fought by his famous ancestor, the Duke of Marlborough, in the War of the Spanish Succession (1701–14). In 1893, Churchill entered Sandhurst Military College and was commissioned as a cavalry officer in 1895. He then served in India and the Sudan before becoming a war correspondent at the time of the Second Boer War (1899–1902). By then, he had published two books on his soldiering – both huge commercial successes – as well as a novel. His time in South Africa resulted in a stream of newspaper reports on the war as well as two further books. Ten years later, Churchill was appointed First Lord of the Admiralty.1 By 1914, he had the perfect qualifications for a war minister.


And yet it all went so badly wrong. Not because Churchill failed as a minister, but because he had enemies. In particular, he had made an enemy of the Tory Party when he crossed the floor of the House, in 1904, to join the Liberals. His meteoric rise through a series of ministerial posts only served to deepen the hostility of his former colleagues. As a result, the Tory Party spent the early part of the war seeking to get Churchill out of office – they succeeded in May 1915. They then spent two years keeping him out until his dramatic return in July 1917.


Although no other senior politician was more suited to run the 1914–18 war, no one was more obstructed in that task. This book tells the story of how, almost from the first month of the war, Churchill became the victim of false stories, libellous innuendoes and malicious attacks as his enemies sought to remove him from power. His heroic action at Antwerp was presented as a fool’s errand. He was made the scapegoat for the bungled Dardanelles campaign. He was kept out of the 1915 coalition by men of less than half his stature. He was denied a brigade command in 1916 for purely political reasons. His return to power was blocked time and again by his old party.


But when, finally, Lloyd George found the courage to face down Churchill’s denigrators, the fallen politician came back as Minister of Munitions. From July 1917, to the day of victory, the war belonged to Lloyd George and Churchill.


The story of Churchill and the First World War is one of a country that foolishly denied itself the services of one of the two greatest war ministers of the twentieth century. Fortunately, Lloyd George was big enough to recognise Churchill’s talents. And Churchill was big enough to rise to every challenge posed by the war.




CHAPTER 1


IN A BELGIAN FIELD


‘A desperate expedient to meet a desperate situation.’1





In a field outside Antwerp stands a man in a flowing cape, sporting a yachting cap and puffing on a huge cigar. Behind him are 400,000 terrified citizens, who have been under siege for weeks. He looks into the distance from where the thundering noise of German heavy guns can be heard. This man is the Allies’ last hope and his name is Winston Spencer-Churchill, the First Lord of the Admiralty. He has been despatched to Belgium in a last desperate effort to stem the advancing Germany armies.


Two days earlier, on 2 October 1914, Churchill had been on a train to Dover. His mission – to consult with the Belgians – was important but not pressing. But when he stepped off the train at Dover he was handed a telegram which urgently recalled him to London. Around midnight, he was back in Lord Kitchener’s London house and there he found three despairing men: Kitchener (War Minister), Sir Edward Grey (Foreign Secretary) and Sir William Tyrrell (Grey’s Private Secretary). What had brought them together was a telegram from Sir Francis Villiers, the British Envoy Extraordinary to Belgium. His message had been blunt: the Belgians were abandoning Antwerp.


Even Field Marshal Lord Kitchener, hero of the Sudan and architect of victory in the Second Boer War, reeled under the news. If Antwerp fell, the German armies would have a clear route through to France. The small British army of six divisions, sent to war with such high hopes, had been in retreat almost from the day that it met the advancing Germans. The French were also in retreat.


Britain and France faced defeat within days, yet Kitchener had no suggestions to make and all that he and Grey could do was to wring their hands. Then Churchill spoke up. True, it might be impossible to hold on to Antwerp, but what about delaying the German advance? Every day of delay was one more to bring forward reinforcements. Kitchener and Grey seized on the plan and soon Churchill was once more speeding towards Dover.


The official naval historian of the First World War described this mission as a ‘desperate expedient to meet a desperate situation’.2 Churchill was to offer the Belgians huge reinforcements if they would hold out for just a few more days.


At home, the War Office and the Admiralty set to work that night to find men and guns to send to Antwerp. Meanwhile, an empty-handed Churchill reached the city at 3.00 p.m. on 3 October, where he met the King of the Belgians and the Belgian Prime Minister. By early evening, he had an agreement. The Belgians would hold on in return for the promise of large-scale support. In a long telegram to London Churchill reported that the Belgians were sure that they could hold the city for at least three days.


Churchill then went to inspect the lines. There were no trenches – the land had been defensively flooded – and every building of any size was a target for the German artillery. Meanwhile, armed only with rifles, the defenders crouched behind bushes. Beyond the lines, German forces were steadily destroying the outer defensive forts using enormous howitzers before turning their artillery on the inner forts. The dispirited Belgian soldiers became spectators as they watched the mighty defence works being destroyed.


The next day, Kitchener was able to telegraph details of the 53,000 men he was to send to Belgium, commencing with Churchill’s very own Naval Brigades that he had created in August.


Churchill set up his headquarters in the city and directed the laying of new defensive positions and, despite heavy shellfire, toured the front line and oversaw dispositions. His calm courage reinvigorated the dispirited Belgians and they returned to their guns and defences. Late at night on 4 October, Churchill reported progress to Kitchener and sent him a long list of urgently needed supplies. Meanwhile, the newly revitalised Belgian Prime Minister told him that Antwerp had to be defended at any price. Churchill’s marines had now arrived and the Naval Brigades were expected that evening. By this time, Churchill had become so involved in the battle that he telegraphed to Asquith to offer his resignation from the Cabinet in exchange for a high military rank.


The situation was stable on 5 October, as the Belgians had even succeeded in repulsing a German attack and, by the end of the day, held the whole line of the River Nethe, with casualties not exceeding 150 men. Once more, Churchill set forth to tour the lines and to hand over the command of the Naval Brigades to Major General Archibald Paris of the marines. They met in a cottage, which shook with the explosions as German shells fell nearby. Later, Churchill narrowly missed being a casualty as a shell landed close by when he was getting out of his car. That night he retired to bed at 2.00 a.m. in an optimistic mood. The Belgian troops had held their ground and, even as he slept, a large British force was moving on Antwerp.


When Churchill woke the next day all was confusion, but he set about positioning the newly arrived Naval Brigades into the battlefront, insisting that they be dug-in since none had been trained for manoeuvre. In fact, the brigades were never close to the action. Watching wounded soldiers retreating from the battle area and the masses of refugees fleeing from the city, Churchill realised that the Germans were inexorably gaining ground.


The next day, General Henry Rawlinson arrived to take over from Churchill. Before departing, Churchill joined Rawlinson in a Council of War at the Belgian Royal Palace. Both men were ready to fight on, but the Belgians feared that their lines of retreat would soon be cut and could only accept that nothing more could be done. As Rawlinson took over, Churchill left to return to his less exciting duties at the Admiralty. On 9 October, German forces entered Antwerp. Churchill’s bold intervention had bought the Allies five precious days.


No operation in the First World War better illustrates Churchill’s incomparable capacity for war. He never accepted that nothing could be done. Even in a situation as desperate as Antwerp, he could see how some purpose could be achieved by continuing to fight as he was always able to apply imagination to an apparently doomed scenario; always ready to find another way when everything seemed lost. And most of all, he had high courage as he neither experienced fear nor shrank from death. These qualities will come to the fore again and again in the story of Churchill in the First World War.




CHAPTER 2


FROM SANDCASTLES TO


STEEL CASTLES


The wars of peoples will be more terrible than those of kings.1


THE ROAD TO WAR


When the Archduke Franz Ferdinand of Austria was assassinated at Sarajevo on 28 June 1914, The Times wrote that ‘The political effects of the tragedy of Sarajevo can only be broadly surmised.’2 But during that long, hot summer, Britain had no intention of allowing events in remote Serbia to impinge on daily life. In early July, the new passenger liner MS Akaroa left on her maiden voyage to Australia – she was to return as a troop ship; a Mr F.V.A. Smith of the Burton-upon-Trent Amateur Radio Club received his licence to transmit; a new park was opened at Wembley; and a new library was opened at Thornton Heath. Life continued as usual.


The Permanent Secretary in the Foreign Office, Sir Arthur Nicolson, hoped that events in Sarajevo would not ‘lead to any further complications’.3 Churchill, also, took little notice of the assassination. On that day he was indulging in one of the privileges of his post, touring the home ports and naval bases on the Admiralty yacht HMS Enchantress. Never one to deny himself luxury, he had the vessel turned into the combination of floating office and relaxing salon. Wherever he went, the daily work of the Admiralty was efficiently carried out in the comfortable cabins. When administration work was finished, Churchill entertained naval officers, politicians, businessmen and friends in style.


Churchill arrived on HMS Enchantress for his first major public duty after the assassination: the Fleet Review, held in mid-July, at Portland on the Channel coast. By now, there had been threatening diplomatic exchanges between Austria-Hungary and Serbia, but Russia and Germany had taken no steps to calm the ever increasing tension on the Continent. Churchill had announced the Fleet Review in the spring, so it was pure coincidence that it was to take place when a Continental war was imminent. The Liberal government, ever hostile to defence expenditure, had limited the review to ships positioned in British waters. Even so, the Royal Navy was still able to assemble a total of 460 warships and support vessels for King George V to review.


Churchill had been First Lord of the Admiralty since 1911. Henry Asquith, the Prime Minister, had appointed him at a time when there was widespread public concern over the ever-growing German navy, which had been building warships at a rapid pace since 1898. Although Germany protested that the ships were required to help build an empire, the British public was not convinced. Each new keel laid down brought a fresh wave of panic from a fractious electorate.


At the Admiralty, Churchill had laboured night and day to build a navy that could answer the German challenge. Not that he had started from scratch as he had inherited ‘the fleet that Jack built’. This was a popular reference to Admiral of the Fleet Lord John ‘Jacky’ Fisher, who was First Sea Lord in the period 1904–10 and almost certainly the greatest reforming admiral of all time. Fisher had turned a dormant fleet, obsessed with spit and polish and sailing in parade-perfect formations, into a war-ready machine mounting the greatest firepower ever seen. Churchill had a very high opinion – too high, many said – of the ageing admiral and regularly sought his advice on ships and men.


On the morning of 20 July, it was a proud and enthusiastic Churchill who presented the results of his labours to King George V. After a night of rain, the skies were heavy with cloud and a cold easterly wind blew over the sea. As the two men looked across the grey waters they saw the towering bulk of the battleship HMS Iron Duke, leading the First and Second Fleets for the approval of His Majesty. The Iron Duke was the flagship of the Commander-in-Chief, Admiral Sir George Callaghan, the man who was to command Britain’s first line of defence if war were ever to come. Not that the spectators had any expectation of war, as that was something they left to the Continental powers who were inextricably tied together in a web of alliances. Britain had no formal alliance with any power. Even the famous Entente Cordiale of 1904 did no more than oblige Britain to leave France a free hand in Morocco, in return for France keeping out of Egyptian affairs.


The twenty-two-mile-long parade of ships from the Royal Navy was an expression of a self-confident empire at the height of its powers. The fleet comprised fifty-five battleships, four battlecruisers, twenty-seven cruisers, twenty-eight light cruisers and seventy-eight destroyers, not to mention vast numbers of minelayers, minesweeping gunboats, repair ships and depot ships for torpedo craft.


As if the gods wished to bless the review, the sun broke through as the first ships began to pass the royal yacht. The King observed the thin scarlet line of the marines standing to attention around the forecastle of each warship. As each vessel passed His Majesty, a band thundered out triumphal music and the sailors gave three cheers for their sovereign. It took an hour for the First Fleet to pass, by which time the leading vessels were disappearing over the horizon. The Second and Third Fleets, which had been mobilised purposely for the occasion, followed, being led by the older but still powerful pre-dreadnought battleships and their cruisers and auxiliaries.


Years later, Winston Churchill was to recall that ‘One after another the ships melted out of sight beyond the Nab [lighthouse]. They were going on a longer voyage than any of us would know.’4





[image: Book title]





As the fleet disappeared from view, the King and Churchill made a hasty departure. They were to return to London to deal with a most pressing matter: Ireland. The country was on the brink of civil war over the Irish Home Rule impasse. On 12 April 1912, Asquith had introduced the Liberal Party’s third attempt at a Home Rule Bill for Ireland. Whereas Prime Minister William Gladstone’s two earlier attempts (in 1886 and 1893) had both failed, Asquith could confidently expect to put his Act on the Statute Book. He could be equally certain that, if the Act came into force, the Protestant counties of Ireland (known as Ulster) would rise in arms against the British government. This was not some wild prediction. Under the leadership of the brilliant and unscrupulous lawyer Sir Edward Carson, 500,000 Ulster people had signed his 1912 ‘Covenant’, which committed them to use ‘all means which may be found necessary’ to prevent the Bill becoming law. A provisional government was established, thousands of Ulster Volunteers were recruited and 100,000 rifles had been imported. As the Cabinet contemplated the rebellious Ulster threat, the British army base at the Curragh was never far from their minds.


In March 1914, the government had faced an increasing threat of violence in Ireland from the Ulster Volunteers. Orders were prepared for troops to protect military sites and public buildings. The army officers at the Curragh base wrongly assumed that they were about to be ordered into action against the volunteers. General Sir Arthur Paget, Commander-in-Chief in Ireland, was called to London, where he was briefed on the government’s limited precautions. When he returned to Ireland, Paget woefully misrepresented what he had been told at the briefing. More convinced than ever that they were to be ordered into action, seventy officers resigned their commissions. The War Minister responsible for this farce – Colonel J.E.B. ‘Jack’ Seely – was forced to resign. But the real casualty was the government, which had now lost control of its own armed forces in Ireland.


All this explains how it was that, while half of Europe was on the brink of war, the British Cabinet met day in, day out to discuss Ulster. The Home Rule conference finally sat from 21 July to 24 July, and Churchill was there to record its dismal progress. On the second day he told his wife, Clementine, that it was ‘in extremis’.5 On the fourth day the conference broke up in total disarray. And so it was that until the end of July, the British Cabinet had never for one moment discussed the threatening developments on the Continent. Ultimatums, threats to mobilise, mobilisations came and went, but Ulster was the only cloud on the Liberal government’s horizon. Asquith described the Cabinet’s mood when he wrote to his epistolary ‘lover’ Venetia Stanley: ‘Happily there seems to be no reason why we should be anything more than spectators.’6 (Venetia was a close friend of Asquith’s daughter Violet and had been his intimate correspondent since 1910.)


On 23 July, at 6.00 p.m. – the penultimate day of the Home Rule conference – the Austrian government handed its infamous ultimatum to Serbia. It contained two particular items that would have led to the end of the Serbian state. Austria-Hungary had demanded that Serbia accept ‘collaboration’ inside the Serbian government to eradicate the Serbian nationalist movement and also claimed the right to dismiss all Serbian ‘officers and functionaries’ who were suspected of having connived in the assassination.7 Serbia had two days to reply.


Although the severity of the demands contained in the ultimatum far exceeded anything that Europe had witnessed in modern times, they raised no concern in the Cabinet on the following day. During a discussion on the arcane intricacies of the religious affiliations of villages in Fermanagh and Tyrone a telegram was handed to the Foreign Secretary. As Sir Edward Grey read out the ultimatum to the assembled ministers, Churchill quickly recognised the danger that it embodied. The equation was simple enough – even if beyond the deductive powers of his fellow ministers. If Austria-Hungary attacked Serbia, Russia would have to support her, and if Russia became involved, her ally France would be called to arms. And, although Britain and France had no formal alliance, their mutual interests were deep and strong. War would be hard to avoid. Immediately, Churchill left the Cabinet room and returned to his office – just a few minutes’ walk across Horse Guards Parade. He cancelled a conference to be held the next day and sat down at his desk to write out a list of twenty-seven actions to make the navy ready for war. Top of the list was ‘First and Second Fleets: Leave and disposition’.8 Churchill had taken the first step to ensure that if Armageddon came, Britain would be ready. No other minister – let alone the Prime Minister – had yet taken in the fact that war was now unavoidable.


In the case of Asquith, his failure was all the more serious since, in addition to being Prime Minister he was also Secretary of State for War, a post he had taken over in March when Seely had resigned over his involvement in the Curragh incident. Although war was daily becoming ever closer, Asquith had taken no steps to appoint a new War Minister.


Nor had he taken steps to open the famous War Book, which had been carefully prepared by Colonel Maurice Hankey, the Secretary of the Committee of Imperial Defence. Hankey, a soldier turned civil servant, was the brains behind the prosecution of the war. He sat in on every meeting of the War Cabinets and councils and was an unfailing source of wise advice to ministers. The War Book set out the defensive actions that Britain needed to take when war threatened. The actions ranged from mobilising signal centres to dealing with enemy ships in British harbours, and arrangements for cable censorship to the internment of aliens. This great machine was set in motion by two telegrams. The first, ‘the warning telegram’, put hundreds of offices and depots on alert. The second, ‘the war telegram’, triggered the despatch of thousands of further telegrams which were in offices around the country, already written with pre-addressed envelopes set out in order of priority. Even the necessary orders-in-council and royal proclamations were at hand for King George V to sign. The War Book was to remain closed until 29 July. But Churchill had no need of a war book to complete his own preparations.


On the day before news of the ultimatum had reached Britain, Callaghan had told the Admiralty that he was about to disperse the fleet. On hearing the ultimatum, he knew that his peaceful naval review had been a dress rehearsal for the real thing. Another signal was sent to London. It warned Churchill that if he took no action, dispersal of the fleet would be complete by 27 July. After that date the First Fleet would disband, with the Second Battle Squadron going to Berehaven in southwest Ireland and the Third Fleet to Lamlash on the Firth of Clyde in Scotland. The Second and Third Fleets, which were manned by reservists, would return to their peacetime state. This was a matter of the utmost significance. From the humblest citizen to the King, it was generally assumed that any war with Germany would begin with a decisive battle between the two great fleets. But in peacetime, Royal Navy ships in home waters controlled the seas from Gibraltar to Scapa Flow. Once dispersed it would take days – and an enormous cost in coal and oil – to reassemble the fleet. If Churchill were mistakenly to disperse the fleet he could, as he said later to Admiral John Jellicoe, ‘lose the war in an afternoon’.


These events compelled Churchill to face a problem that he had ignored for far too long: the men who were to command the navy in war. He had already complained to Fisher in April 1912 regarding the lack of competent seamen amongst the vice and rear admirals. The effects of this could be seen in the upper echelons of the fleet, where there was a distinct lack of drive. In particular he had issues with his two top men.


First, there was Callaghan. Born in 1852, Admiral Sir George Astley Callaghan was nearing the end of his naval career after an adventurous life, including fighting with the Naval Brigade in the Boxer Rebellion of 1900. By 1914, he had been at sea as a fleet commander for eight years – long enough to wear down a much younger man. For three years as Commander-in-Chief of the home fleets, he had controlled the largest single naval force that any country had ever put to sea. The admiral had a fine reputation as a commander and was an able and considerate manager of men. But, Churchill still felt uneasy about the elderly sailor being in command of Britain’s first line of defence in war.


Secondly, there was Admiral Prince Louis Alexander of Battenberg. Although German born in 1854, he had been naturalised as a young boy before joining the Royal Navy and had spent all his adult life in British ships and on Admiralty postings. In 1912, when Churchill chose him as Second Sea Lord, Fisher noted that Battenberg was ‘quite excellent at details of organisation, which is what you require in the Second Sea Lord’.9 Now that he was First Sea Lord his limitations had become all too obvious. Reserved and ill at ease with people, his diligence had failed to compensate for his lack of imagination. He was dull and remote – hardly a man in the Churchill mould – and there was also the difficulty of his German origins. Churchill did not hold that against him, but others did.


The First Lord knew that both men had to go but, for the moment, he took no action.


The following day, Saturday 25 July, all was relaxed in England. Ministers had travelled to their country retreats, from which no sound came other than the plop of tennis balls and the thwack of golf clubs. On the Continent, the headlong race to war continued unabated. Russia had requested Austria-Hungary to extend the time limit on its ultimatum to Serbia, but this was refused. Russia’s response was to mobilise thirteen army corps to protect the frontier with Austria. Serbia, now in a desperate position, was also mobilised as the humiliating reply to Austria was handed over at 5.58 p.m. The world stood still while Austria decided for peace or for war.


Meanwhile, all Churchill could do, as he recalled after the war, was to wait. Three years of work had placed the navy in a state of total preparedness for the momentous war signal.


Certain in his preparations, Churchill and his private secretary, (Wilson) ‘Eddie’ Marsh, took the 1.00 p.m. train to Overstrand, near Cromer, to join his family for a weekend on the beach. The relaxed nature of the break was enhanced by the presence of his sister-in-law Gwendeline ‘Goonie’ Churchill (wife of John Churchill) and her children. The charming fishing village of Overstrand had been discovered by wealthy Victorians in the late nineteenth century. With vast sandy beaches and a railway station it had become a fashionable tourist destination and had been first brought to notice under the name Poppyland in a newspaper article of 1883 by the author Clement Scott. The Churchills, following the trend, had rented the dreary-looking but delightfully named Pear Tree Cottage, which was ideal as a retreat from the hustle of Whitehall but, on the eve of war, the lack of a telephone was a serious drawback. Fortunately, the financier and philanthropist Sir Edgar Speyer was a neighbour and allowed Churchill the use of his telephone and so helped to ensure the timely mobilisation of the British fleet. (Kitchener, too, was without a telephone at this critical moment in history. His grand house at Broome Park at Barham in Kent relied on a telephone in the local village.) This kindly act did not save Speyer from being hounded out of Britain for his alleged financial dealings with Germany.


On 26 July, when Churchill first telephoned Battenberg in London at 9.00 a.m. there was no news from Austria. He returned to the beach and there he played with his children as they dammed the small streams that ran down into the sea. The North Sea was calm and enticing in the heat of a blazing sun. But, somewhere beyond the horizon there waited a not to be underrated foe in a high stage of readiness.


At midday, he again telephoned Battenberg and on a crackly, barely audible line he heard the news that Austria had rejected the Serbian note. The two men were later to disagree on just what had been said. Churchill maintained that he had told the First Sea Lord not to disperse the Fleet; Battenberg insisted that Churchill had not given him ‘specific instructions to halt the dispersal’ but had left the matter to his judgement.10 Each knew, though, that Britain’s command of the seas was about to be threatened.


Churchill returned to his sandcastles while the First Sea Lord went back to the Foreign Office to watch the stream of telegrams arriving from European capitals. The news worsened throughout the afternoon and, feeling extremely gloomy, he returned to the Admiralty. At 4.05 p.m. he telegraphed Callaghan and ordered him not to disperse the fleet. Although he was proud of his own action, Battenberg was most disparaging of the ministers who, even in a time of national crisis, had retired to the country at the weekend. Asquith’s approach to the impending war had been to play golf in the country. The leader of the Tory Party, Bonar Law, was playing tennis at another country retreat.


By the evening, Churchill had returned to London, where he drafted a press statement to announce that the Fleet was not to disperse and that the shore-based reserves of the Second Fleet were to remain near their ships. He could rely on the German Ambassador to pass this news on to Emperor Wilhelm II (popularly known as ‘Kaiser Bill’ in Britain), who, he hoped, would now think twice before moving troops towards Belgium and France.


As Churchill and the First Sea Lord responded to the impending catastrophe, the relaxed Asquith maintained an idiosyncratic and semi-detached state. The international crisis, he told Venetia Stanley on the Sunday, ‘is the most dangerous situation of the last 40 years’ but he bizarrely consoled himself with the thought that it would have ‘the good effect of throwing into the background the lurid pictures of “civil war” in Ulster’. Miss Stanley brought him to his senses by pointing out that welcoming a European war as a means of relief from Ulster was like ‘cutting off one’s head to get rid of a headache’.11


On 27 July, the Cabinet met in crisis mood. At no time before this day had they discussed the possibility of war, so members were astounded when Sir Edward Grey put forward reasons for supporting France. For him this was a dismal moment. Grey had been involved in foreign affairs since 1892, when Gladstone had made him Parliamentary Undersecretary. Until he was thirty years old, he had showed little political ambition, always preferring to fly-fish for trout on his beloved River Itchen. In 1905, despite his lack of ambition, he had been appointed Foreign Secretary. Since then, no man had done more to prevent a European war, never sparing himself in his attempts to cultivate the goodwill of both France and Germany. His tireless reading of telegrams and drafting despatches had ruined his eyesight, but he refused to abandon his honourable task. Yet his determination to leave the European countries guessing as to Britain’s military intentions in a European war was much criticised. It was said that the failure of his policy in August 1914 gave him many a sleepless night in later years.


When the Cabinet heard their arch-Europeanist argue for a step that might well lead to war, there was universal revulsion. However, ministers soon shrugged off their first reactions and it was to take just one week for the significance of what Grey had said to be appreciated. Asquith shared the same delusions as his colleagues when he told Miss Stanley that there was no need to worry about war since ‘we have no obligation … to France or Russia’.12 Nevertheless, he received four letters of resignation.


Few would have predicted that just a week later this same divided Cabinet would plunge Britain into war.


While ministers closed their eyes to the coming conflict, Churchill’s mind raced as he brooded over the challenges of war and he returned to Downing Street to warn Asquith of the unguarded ammunition and oil supplies located around the country. The Prime Minister readily agreed to troops being positioned at these sites and around coastal lights and guns. Churchill also concentrated his naval aeroplanes over the area of the Thames estuary as a precaution against Zeppelin attacks. Orders were sent to all naval commanders in home waters to be prepared to shadow enemy vessels.


On 28 July, the situation on the Continent worsened as Austria-Hungary declared war on Serbia and Russia. Churchill returned to the precarious disposition of his fleet, which he called his ‘crown jewels’.13 Anchored at Portland on the Channel coast, it was essential to send the fleet to a place of safety before German warships entered the English Channel and the North Sea. There was still time for the fleet to take the short east coast route to the war station of Scapa Flow in the Orkneys; any delay risked having to send it by the longer west coast route. After what Churchill had heard on the previous day, he dared not ask the Cabinet to authorise the move, so he privately consulted Asquith, who consented.


At 5.00 p.m. a signal was sent from the Admiralty ordering Callaghan to move the First Fleet on the next day. He was to take his ships through the Strait of Dover at night with no lights showing. His destination was to be kept secret from all but his flag officers. (Only after the war did Churchill discover that, despite the secrecy surrounding this move, the German Naval Attaché in London was providing Berlin with an accurate account of these movements. He warned his masters that the Grand Fleet was on high alert and at its stations. He was even able to provide a list of the orders sent to the ships.)


Although the Cabinet still saw the war as avoidable, Churchill restlessly sought ways to maintain the momentum at the Admiralty. Knowing that in the event of war he would need every available ship, he ordered his staff to seize two warships under construction for the Turkish Navy in British shipyards. The matter was of the greatest urgency since one of them, the Osman, was ready to be handed over – the crew were billeted in a Turkish liner moored alongside. The two warships were taken and named as HMS Agincourt and HMS Erin. The action gave rise to much ill-feeling in Turkey, which may have helped to push the country into an alliance with Germany some weeks later.


At midnight, Churchill bared his soul to his wife, telling her of his confused mental state. He was perplexed as to how he could be so keen and in such high spirits as the world faced a calamitous war with the prospect of death and devastation on a scale never seen before. ‘Is it not horrible to be built like that?’ he asked.14 More prosaically, he told her that during the day he had found time to admire the black swans on the lake in St James’s Park with their new downy cygnet.


On 29 July at 7.00 a.m., before Britain had even considered going to war, and with a Cabinet hostile to the idea of supporting France, ships of the First Fleet quietly slipped their moorings at Portland. Churchill saw in his imagination the mass of ‘castles of steel’ speeding through the darkness and stretching for eighteen miles.15 By dawn, the ships were safely in the North Sea, speeding away from the German Fleet. The move was reported in the newspapers the next day, emphasising that there had been no military mobilisation.


Churchill was congratulated from all sides. One of the first people to hear of the move was an excited Lord Fisher, who happened to be in Admiralty House on that morning. Churchill invited Fisher to his room and there he described all the details of the fleet movements to the evident delight and approval of the old admiral. A short while later, as Fisher was leaving the building he met Arthur Balfour, an ex-Prime Minister and leading Tory who was thrilled to hear the naval news.


All was well with the fleet. On 30 July, a signal from Scapa Flow confirmed its safe arrival. The German Ambassador did not approve, even though Grey reassured him that the fleet operations had no sinister purpose and it would not encroach upon German waters.


The final day of July proved to be the last quiet day that Churchill was to have until his dismissal in May of the following year. With detached incredulity he watched as the City of London plunged into chaos. The Stock Exchange was near to suspension, two more companies had collapsed the previous day and the bank rate had been raised from three to four per cent. Bullion to the value of £2 million had been withdrawn from vaults of the Bank of England in one day. The governor of the Bank had asked Asquith for permission to suspend gold payments – a desperate measure last taken one hundred years earlier. Churchill was fearful that it would soon be impossible to cash cheques. Aware of the impending meltdown of the national finances, Churchill took stock of his own financial position. He was horrified to find that he and his wife had spent £175 (£7,500 today) in the previous month. He declared to Clementine that economies had to be made in the household accounts. (Churchill was prone to fits of austerity with the household accounts, but these rarely lasted more than a week or two.)


By 1 August, Churchill was revelling in his duties. He was still the only minister to have come to terms with the near inevitability of war – naval mobilisation was now inescapable. In Cabinet that day, he argued that since ‘the German Navy was mobilising … we must do the same’.16 The Cabinet was not convinced, contending that mobilisation only affected the older ships; there was no urgent need. That his request was refused is no surprise given that the meeting was dominated by a demand for an immediate statement that Britain would not go to war under any circumstances.


Churchill vigorously opposed this view. He was, Asquith told Miss Stanley, ‘very bellicose’ while ‘Lloyd George – all for peace – is more sensible & statesmanlike, for keeping the position still open’.17 Given Lloyd George’s opposition to the Second Boer War of 1899-1902, his appeasing stance was no surprise to his fellows. Although he was to lead the country to victory four years later, in 1914 Lloyd George felt nothing but repugnance at the thought of war. Yet, in the end, he and Churchill were to prove to be the only two ministers who truly understood modern war and were there to the end.


In the evening, Churchill dined alone. Later, two Tory MPs arrived to play cards. The brilliant lawyer and virtuoso Commons debater Frederick Smith (known as F. E. Smith) was accompanied by the maverick Canadian investor, turned enigmatic Tory politician, William Maxwell ‘Max’ Aitken (later Lord Beaverbrook). It must have been quite some game involving as it did one man who was to be Prime Minister twice, another who was to be Lord Chancellor and a third who was to be a powerful press baron. All three were outsiders, rebellious risk-takers and unloved by their political parties. F. E. Smith was, and remained until his early death, one of Churchill’s closest friends. Although they sat on opposite sides of the House, they were the joint founders in 1911 of Churchill’s famous ‘Other Club’. Operating under the greatest secrecy, this dining club still meets today. One of its rules specifies that ‘Nothing in the rules or intercourse of the Club shall interfere with the rancour or asperity of party politics.’


As the game progressed, a red box was brought in. Inside was a single sheet of paper which read ‘War declared by Germany on Russia’.18 The party immediately broke up and Churchill hurried to Downing Street, where he found Grey, the Lord Chancellor (Richard Haldane) and the Secretary of State for India (Lord Crewe) in discussion. Once more Churchill demanded mobilisation, telling the Prime Minister that he would answer for his action at Cabinet the next day. Asquith, a man who always baulked at making a decision, said nothing, which Churchill took as assent. As he left, he also revealed to Grey that he had upstaged the Cabinet earlier in the day by informing the French Ambassador, Monsieur Paul Cambon, that the Royal Navy would not permit the German High Seas Fleet to enter the English Channel. That night Churchill told his wife ‘It’s all up.’19


Churchill’s conviction that mobilisation should not be delayed was reinforced by fresh news from Germany. At Hamburg, British ships had been detained because of ‘important naval manoeuvres’ to be held the next day.20 It was more than likely that this meant mobilisation. Time was running out for Churchill.


This news had reached the Admiralty from the Foreign Office at 1.45 p.m. Thirty minutes later the signal for mobilisation was sent over the telegraphs. Officers of the Third Fleet joined their ships, ready to receive shore-based crews; patrols were ordered to sea to watch for minelaying; hospital ships, colliers and oilers were sent to their stations. Twelve hours later, on 2 August at 1.25 a.m., the naval reserves were also mobilised and this was completed at 4.00 a.m. on 3 August. Fisher’s great fleet based on his economical system of dedicated crews had gone smoothly into action. He was content that Churchill, whom he greatly admired, had been the man to carry through its first mobilisation.


Following Churchill’s informal promise to Cambon that the British fleet would keep the Germans out of the Channel, Grey now confirmed this officially. Churchill copied Grey’s note to his commanders, adding ‘Be prepared to meet surprise attacks.’21 Later, he sent another signal authorising his commanders in the Mediterranean to talk to their French counterparts. The situation, he told them, was ‘very critical’.22


Earlier in the day, Churchill had met the French Naval Attaché to discuss co-operation in the Channel and they had agreed to distribute the secret signal books to be used by the two navies in war. Hour-by-hour the atmosphere became more and more warlike. Rear Admiral Rosslyn Wemyss spoke for many when he described how, at that moment, ‘we still oscillated between hopes and fears’. He found it hard to believe that ‘we were actually witnessing the commencement of a war’. The seriousness of the situation became even more obvious to him the following day when he said goodbye to his Swiss servant, Michael, at Paddington Station as he left for Switzerland to be mobilised.23


Until 3 August, the developing war on the Continent had had the appearance of a spectator sport for the British public but events took a serious turn when Germany declared war on France. Churchill’s day began with a Privy Council meeting at Buckingham Palace, where the King signed various mobilisation orders. Having already secured communication between French and British naval commanders in the Mediterranean, Churchill now asked Asquith for the authority for full co-operation in the Channel, telling him that his professional staff had requested this. Asquith consented.


In Cabinet, Asquith reported the resignations of John Morley (Lord President of the Council) and John Burns (President of the Board of Trade). He had persuaded Sir John Simon (Attorney General) and Lord Beauchamp (First Commissioner for Works) to remain. Charles Hobhouse, the Postmaster General, noted in his diary that Asquith’s eyes ‘filled with tears’ as he told his colleagues that such resignations were ‘the first time in his 6 years of leadership’.24 Hobhouse had first been elected to Parliament as a Liberal in 1892 and had entered the Cabinet as Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster in 1911, becoming Postmaster General in 1914. He was one of the few Cabinet ministers to have kept a diary while in office and his vivid, blunt and opinionated entries provide invaluable insights into the working of Asquith’s Cabinet.


Apart from those who resigned, the Cabinet, which had been so anti-war only two days earlier, now fell in with Grey’s belligerence. It is ironic that it was the mild, anti-war Grey and the squeamish Asquith who made the case for Britain to enter a war in which no power remotely threatened her or her interests. Neither was fitted in any way to run a war and both recoiled from its reality when it began. Oddly, the two men most able to run a war – Churchill and Lloyd George – had very little influence on the decision. Churchill was too belligerent to have any influence over his Cabinet colleagues while Lloyd George’s well-known pacifist tendencies left him temporarily without authority in the Cabinet.


When the Cabinet broke up at 2.00 p.m., Grey, who was to make the speech of his life in the Commons just one hour later, dashed to the Foreign Office to check the telegrams and snatch some lunch. At 3.00 p.m. he entered the House to make his famous statement. He faced anxious and bewildered members, every seat was taken and the central gangway had been filled with chairs – something last seen in 1886 when Gladstone had made his first Home Rule speech.


Grey was always impressive at the despatch box. He was a tall imposing man, good-looking to a fault, with an athletic build and an arresting presence. His speech was long – he had a lot to tell members having spent years of his life trying to stave off this war – but it was uncompromising. At first, as he distanced Britain from the French position, it seemed that the conciliatory wing of the Cabinet was to have its way:





I can say this with the most absolute confidence – no Government and no country has less desire to be involved in war over a dispute with Austria and Servia25 than the Government and the country of France. They are involved in it because of their obligation of honour under a definite alliance with Russia. Well, it is only fair to say to the House that that obligation of honour cannot apply in the same way to us. We are not parties to the Franco-Russian Alliance. We do not even know the terms of that Alliance.





Then Grey began a subtle twist in his argument as he talked of Britain’s friendship with France: ‘let every man look into his own heart, and his own feelings, and construe the extent of the obligation for himself.’ He went on: ‘The French coasts are absolutely undefended.’ It gradually became clear that Grey would not allow the Germans to use the English Channel to attack France.


He then turned to Belgium and gave the House a discourse on its history. Grey argued that Britain could not evade her obligation under the Belgian Treaty of 1839 to defend that country’s neutrality. When he closed, Andrew Bonar Law, the uninspiring businessman turned politician and Leader of the Opposition, rose to assure the House that the Conservatives would give their ‘unhesitating support’ to ‘whatever steps’ the Government felt needed to be taken.26


So it was to be war unless by some miracle Germany stepped back. When Churchill reflected on this moment after the war he appreciated its inevitability. As the German armies poured into Belgium, Germany had revealed what ‘had really menaced us hour by hour in the last ten years’. If war had to come it ‘was better that it should happen now’ just when Germany ‘had [put] herself so hopelessly in the wrong’.27


The Prime Minister listened as his Foreign Secretary made the case for war. Yet Asquith could still not come to terms with its reality. He mocked Churchill when writing to Venetia Stanley the following day. Churchill had, he told her, ‘got on all his war-paint’ and was ‘longing for a sea-fight in the early hours of tomorrow morning’. He added ‘The whole thing fills me with sadness.’28 Asquith had stumbled into war and now shrank from the unavoidable necessity of sinking ships and killing men.


While his colleagues were still reeling from the calamitous news of war, Churchill’s military mind raced ahead as he surveyed the new scenario. The first task of his navy was to immobilise the German fleet. How much easier that would be if the coasts of Norway, Holland and Belgium were in Allied hands. Under the cover of ‘Urgent & Secret’ he wrote to Grey to propose alliances with these powers.29 It was an idea that Grey never pursued.


The last hours of peace now slipped away. The British ultimatum to Germany requiring that Belgium be kept neutral expired at 11.00 p.m. British time (midnight in Germany) on 4 August. The London streets had seen a frenzy of patriotic outpouring in the early evening, but as the fatal hour approached, the shouting and the singing died away. Then as the first chime of Big Ben rang out over the expectant city, the crowds burst into cheers. On and on they went for a full twenty minutes and, reported The Times newspaper: ‘The National Anthem was then sung with an emotion and solemnity which manifested the gravity and sense of responsibility with which the people regard the great issues before them.’30 Meanwhile, Churchill’s war telegram ordering his ships to begin hostilities went out from Admiralty House to the waiting fleet. All that remained was for him to walk across Horse Guards Parade and report his action to the Prime Minister. Lloyd George was there when he arrived and later described, no doubt with some exaggeration, how





Winston dashed into the room, radiant, his face bright, his manner keen, one word pouring out on another how he was going to send telegrams to the Mediterranean, the North Sea, and God knows where. You could see he was a really happy man.31





Distressed as he was at the prospect of war, Asquith drew comfort from the fact that there had been no more resignations. Churchill meanwhile was the man of the moment. There was an audience with King George V and a handsome tribute in The Times, on 4 August, to ‘Mr. Churchill, whose grasp of the situation and whose efforts to meet it have been above all praise’.32 From Walter Long, a leading Tory MP and frequent critic of the Admiralty, came congratulations to Churchill on his prompt mobilisation of the fleet. This tribute was particularly generous given that, for years, Walter Long and the retired Admiral Lord Charles Beresford had plotted to take over the posts of First Lord and First Sea Lord respectively.


Outside Westminster and Whitehall, the enormity of what had happened had yet to be appreciated. The Daily Mail relegated the war to page four while the Manchester Guardian noted that ‘War and rumours of war seem to have made no diminution of the happy holiday crowds at Brighton.’33 Readers of the Daily Mirror were more forcefully reminded that the war would reach out to touch all the people. Doctors were asked to present themselves to the War Office for service, motorcyclists were required for the army and men were called to enlist.


Meanwhile, over the weekend, printing presses had been furiously pounding away on a most secret operation. When the banks opened on 5 August, customers who asked for gold were handed ten shilling and one pound banknotes. Paper money, so feared by the British for so long, became a reality overnight and was accepted without a murmur. Gold was never again to be handed out over bank counters.


CHANGE OF COMMAND


While Churchill had been mobilising his fleet he had also been busy at work on another, rather distasteful task: the removal of Callaghan. He and the First Sea Lord had met on 1 August to discuss what to do about the ageing commander, who was due to leave his post two months later. They had agreed that, in the event of war, Jellicoe would become his second-in-command. Now they concluded that Callaghan should be removed on the outbreak of war because, Churchill said later, the admiral’s health did not seem robust enough for the task ahead.


While Fisher had for years advanced Jellicoe’s claim to high command, Jellicoe’s only clear advantage over Callaghan was his age. He had a first class mind and had assiduously mastered the details required in all his posts. But his cool, detached and undemonstrative personality was matched by a nervous disposition and an absence of the aggressive streak that is essential in war. His reaction to his appointment was sufficiently bizarre as to raise doubts about his suitability for high command.


On 1 August, Churchill informed Jellicoe of his decision to give him command of the Grand Fleet. As his train sped north, Jellicoe pondered on the change. When he reached the end of the line at Wick in the north of Scotland at 10.00 p.m., he could contain himself no longer. He telegraphed his concern, saying the handover ‘might easily be disastrous’. The next day Jellicoe once more telegraphed to Churchill and Battenberg, this time declaring ‘[I] am more than ever convinced of vital importance of making no change.’ Churchill replied personally at 8.30 p.m., telling Jellicoe ‘I can give you 48 hours after joining [;] you must be ready then.’ Still Jellicoe would not accept an order when given. Back came another whingeing cry: ‘Can only reply am certain step contemplated most dangerous beg it may not be carried out.’ The next morning – 3 August – Jellicoe returned to his obstructive behaviour, telling the Admiralty that they courted disaster in making the change before he had had a chance to get to know the fleet. Before London could reply to this, Jellicoe sent in yet another telegram to say that the ‘Fleet is imbued with feelings of extreme admiration and loyalty for Commander-in-Chief. This is very strong factor.’ Battenberg brought this farce to an end by ignoring all the points made by Jellicoe and informing him that ‘I am sending [Rear Admiral Sir Charles] Madden tonight to be at your side.’ (Madden was, coincidentally, Jellicoe’s brother-in-law.) Battenberg then despatched a telegram to Callaghan ordering him to transfer his command to Jellicoe.34


It was an extraordinary way to begin a war. No admiral since the Napoleonic wars had assumed as much responsibility, yet Jellicoe appeared to shy away from it in an alarming manner.


Churchill then had to settle with his wife over the episode. She wrote from Overstrand to say how upset she was over the way Callaghan had been treated. She felt that he would be deeply hurt by his abrupt removal and that offering him an honour would be no compensation. Her appeal succeeded and Callaghan took up a special service post at the Admiralty and was made principal aide-de-camp to the King. These were temporary appointments until he was able to take up the post of Commander-in-Chief at the Nore in December.


And so, with men and machines in place, Churchill was ready to face the German High Seas Fleet. But first he had to turn his mind to trouble in the Mediterranean.




CHAPTER 3


THE ELUSIVE FOE


He brought an element of youth, energy, vitality and confidence that was a tower of strength to Asquith’s Cabinet in those difficult early days. – Hankey1


THE SEARCH FOR THE GOEBEN AND BRESLAU



During the last week of peace Churchill had found himself in an awkward position over the German battleship SMS Goeben and the light cruiser SMS Breslau, both then in the Mediterranean. These powerful vessels were steaming in the same waters as the Mediterranean Fleet. It was also the sea over which French troop transports would pass from Algeria to France in the event of war. How tempting it was for Churchill to order the sinking of the two warships! But this was impossible to do before war had been declared.


The German ships were based at the Austro-Hungarian naval port of Pola on the Adriatic. They were under the command of Rear Admiral Wilhelm Souchon, who was to prove a formidable opponent to the British Commander-in-Chief in the Mediterranean, Admiral Sir Archibald Berkeley Milne. Known as ‘Arky-Barky’, Milne was a competent but unimaginative admiral who found himself thrust into a scenario where bold initiative was desperately needed. But Souchon was of superior mettle. Since his appointment in 1913, he had familiarised himself with every detail of the Mediterranean: ‘I made it my business not only to visit personally and appraise all naval bases and sources of supply of possible interest, but also to become acquainted with such leading men as I might be called upon to regard as opponents or as helpers and allies, in the event of war.’2 This detailed knowledge, combined with his calm manner and capacity for hard work, gave the German the edge over the less energetic Milne. Rear Admiral Souchon was eager for news that France and Germany were at war so that he could attack the French transport ships. For Churchill this would have been bad enough, but the possible escape of the two ships into the Atlantic Ocean was a terrifying thought. They had to be taken.


Milne had a modest fleet in the Mediterranean. Under his command at Malta, he had three fast modern battlecruisers – HMS Inflexible, HMS Indefatigable and HMS Indomitable – supported by four armoured cruisers, four light cruisers and fourteen destroyers. But it was not the ships that he needed to worry about. It was Churchill. In the new age of wireless, the First Lord had no intention of leaving the hunt for the Goeben and the Breslau to his local commander. He intended to run the show himself.


Did Milne realise this when the first signal came from Churchill on 30 July? After warning Milne not to antagonise Italy, Spain and Greece, Churchill set out his instructions:





Your first task should be to aid the French in the transportation of their African army by covering and if possible bringing to action individual fast German ships, particularly Goeben … You will be notified by telegraph when you may consult with the French Admiral. Except in combination with the French as part of a general battle, do not at this stage be brought to action by superior forces.3





Poor Milne, he was to help the French but not to talk to them. He could act with them in a ‘general battle’ but had not been told how that was defined. And he was not to take on ‘superior forces’, another vague phrase. For the time being he simply despatched the light cruiser HMS Chatham to patrol the south of the Strait of Messina.


On 31 July, the Goeben and Breslau had entered the port of Brindisi on the Adriatic coast of Italy to coal, but were turned away by the Italians. This was a surprise to Rear Admiral Souchon since Italy was a member of the Triple Alliance with Germany and Austria-Hungary. He continued south down the Italian coast to Messina in Sicily. Once more Souchon was refused coal so his men simply took coal from the bunkers of the other German ships in port. Meanwhile, Milne kept his forces together, ready to assist the French.
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The escape of SMS Goeben and SMS Breslau.


On 2 August, Churchill instructed Milne to shadow the Goeben with two battlecruisers and to keep a watch on the approaches to the Adriatic, but he himself was to remain at Malta. There was no way he could act on the first part of the message since he had no idea as to the location of the warship. All he could do was to despatch HMS Indomitable and HMS Indefatigable with five cruisers and eight destroyers under the command of Rear Admiral Ernest Troubridge to watch the entrance to the Adriatic. Troubridge, a descendant of a family of notable naval men, had had a modest career with steady promotion but nothing of distinction. The war plans that he had drawn up as Chief of the War Staff in 1912 had been thoroughly rejected by his colleagues and Churchill had eased him out to return to sea in early 1913. His appointment to the 2nd Light Cruiser Squadron in the Mediterranean was to bring an ignominious end to his sea-going career.


Milne was still at Malta when the Goeben and Breslau sailed at midnight on 2 August, exiting the Strait at its northern end. At ten minutes past midnight on 3 August, Milne received yet another signal from Churchill. There was now a change of emphasis in his orders as he informed Milne that ‘Goeben is your objective.’4 He was to shadow the ship and be ready to act when war was declared.


Churchill now cast aside his concern for the French transport ships as his active mind imagined the destruction that the Goeben and Breslau could possibly wreak in the Atlantic. Later in the day, his opinion hardened around the idea that the two ships were heading for the open sea rather than the French ports in the western Mediterranean. Another signal to Milne was sent at 8.30 p.m. to order him to send two battlecruisers to Gibraltar in order to keep the Goeben in the Mediterranean. This item of Churchillian-style micro-management had not been necessary. Milne had already detached Indomitable and Indefatigable from Troubridge’s squadron to search westward.


While these signals had been pouring in on Milne, Germany had declared war on France. This news reached Souchon at 6.00 p.m. He was now free to attack both French ships and French ports.


Increasingly concerned at the thought of the Goeben and Breslau destroying British ships on the high seas, Churchill urgently appealed to Asquith and Grey for authority to allow Milne to attack the German ships if they first attacked the French transports. Grey and the Prime Minister agreed to this action. But when the issue was raised a few hours later at Cabinet the answer was a firm ‘No’. In his optimism Churchill had already authorised Milne to attack, so in the early afternoon he had to withdraw his signal. He covered his embarrassment by issuing a general signal to all ships, reminding them that the British ultimatum to Germany did not expire until midnight. In fact the true expiry time was 11.00 p.m., which was midnight in Germany. (Churchill was not the only politician to make this mistake. Several post-war memoirs repeat this error.)


Later in the day, Battenberg reminded Churchill that, since Italy was neutral, British ships would need to keep outside the six-mile limit around the Italian coast. Churchill agreed, fearing some minor clash if the limits were breached. He promptly telegraphed to Milne advising him that he was to respect this limit without fail. Milne’s task suddenly became much more problematic, since he was forbidden to seek the Goeben in just those waters where Souchon could best conceal his ships – the Strait of Messina.


It was the French who located the vessels when the Goeben and the Breslau began to bombard Algerian ports on 4 August. In the early hours of that day, Souchon had received an urgent signal ordering him to go immediately to Constantinople. But as he was so near to his enemy he could not resist a token attack on the ports of Bona and Philippeville. The attack over, he turned his ships east and set course for Constantinople taking a northerly route through the Mediterranean.


Later that morning, steaming towards Gibraltar, Captain Francis Kennedy of HMS Indomitable was staggered to find himself passing the Goeben and Breslau sailing in the opposite direction. (It had been assumed that the German ships were bound for the Atlantic.) In his obituary, Kennedy was described as ‘one of the most experienced of the Grand Fleet captains of the war’ and ‘a fine seaman and a zealous officer’. He had been mentioned in despatches after the bombardment of Alexandria in 1882, had received the General Africa Medal in 1895 and was mentioned in despatches again in 1897. The navy had few captains who had shown such dash and daring in recent years. But now Milne was to deprive him of this latest chance to show his valiant nature. (Kennedy’s chance came later at Jutland, where his actions won him a CB for his ‘great skill and gallantry’.) 5


As the two German ships sailed past, Kennedy turned the Indomitable and the Indefatigable to pursue the enemy. There was joy in the Admiralty when Kennedy’s news reached London. Churchill keenly replied with the instruction ‘Very good. Hold her. War imminent.’6 What no one in London knew at that moment was that a British merchant ship, the SS Isle of Hastings, had been seriously damaged in the German bombardment of Algeria. Had Churchill known, he would surely have rushed back across Horse Guards Parade to plead for permission to order an attack.


The next day, 5 August, the Goeben and Breslau arrived at Messina to coal. Britain was now officially at war with Germany so Milne’s ships were free to attack. But, once more, Souchon’s location was unknown since he had outrun Kennedy’s ships during the night. By mid-afternoon, wireless signals revealed the location of the Goeben as somewhere in the Strait. Milne, of course, could not enter since the waters were all within the six-mile limit.


What happened next is hard to appreciate. On 6 August, Milne took his ships to the northern exit of the Strait, leaving only the light cruiser HMS Gloucester to patrol the southern exit. It had never occurred to Milne that the Goeben might exit that way, but she did. (The British had no idea that the destination was Constantinople.)


At least Captain Howard Kelly of HMS Gloucester was alert that day. As soon as he saw the Goeben emerge from the southern end of the Strait he began a pursuit. At first, the Goeben went south as though Gibraltar would be her destination. But then the ship unexpectedly altered course to the east. Kelly signalled the course change to Milne. Unknown to Souchon, he was now sailing towards Troubridge at the southern end of the Adriatic. It would surely be impossible for the Goeben to pass.


Troubridge set off in pursuit at eight minutes past midnight on 7 August, and it was at this point that Churchill’s initial signal came back to confuse the proceedings. His instruction had forbidden Milne to attack superior forces, but what constituted ‘superior forces’? Troubridge, unable to decide, asked his flag captain for his opinion. If we are generous to Troubridge, we could say that he heeded Captain Fawcett Wray’s advice that Goeben represented a superior force. A less generous interpretation is that Troubridge readily allowed himself to be talked out of going into action. At 4.05 a.m., Troubridge signalled to Milne that he had given up the chase.


Kelly in HMS Gloucester was still shadowing the German ships. On 7 August at 1.35 p.m. he opened fire on the Breslau at long range. The Goeben halted and turned to investigate. Kelly did not have the firepower to engage the German ships, but did continue to shadow the enemy ships until he reached Cape Matapan at the southern end of Greece. Milne had forbidden him to go beyond this point, leaving the Goeben and the Breslau to proceed unhindered to Constantinople.


We can disregard Milne’s last attempt to catch the Goeben since subsequent events did not involve Churchill. The two German ships reached Constantinople and remained there for the rest of the war. Kelly was highly commended for his shadowing operation – his ship was the only one to get within range of the enemy – and made a KCB. Troubridge was recalled to appear before a Court of Inquiry. The court refused to accept that Goeben was a superior force and described Troubridge’s behaviour as ‘deplorable and contrary to the tradition of the British Navy’.7 The court martial which followed was more lenient, declaring that he was ‘justified in regarding the enemy’s force as superior to his own in daylight’. He was ‘fully and honourably acquitted’.8 But he never received another sea-going command.


The other casualty of the fiasco was Churchill, who had put himself in a difficult position by taking such a central role in the chase. All the key signals to Milne were his handiwork. In taking such an active part in the operation Churchill was fully within his powers as First Lord. He could direct the navy as he pleased. But in doing so he was departing from tradition both in the Admiralty and in every other government department: ministers set policy; professionals implemented it. It would have been legitimate for Churchill to have told Milne that his priority tasks were to help protect the French transports and to sink the Goeben – that was policy. But he could not restrain his urge to tell Milne how to carry out his task. Worse still, Churchill filled his first signal with vague phrases such as ‘superior forces’ and ‘husband your force’, all of which suggested to Milne he was to avoid action except in the most favourable circumstances.


There was a rather Churchillian-style postscript to the escape of the Goeben as his muddled signals continued. With the Goeben out of reach at Constantinople, Milne’s next task was to make sure she stayed there, or was destroyed should she re-enter the Mediterranean. Once more Churchill wrote his own signal, and once more it led to confusion. He told Milne to set up a blockade of the Dardanelles, which puzzled the admiral. He telegraphed to ask whether Churchill really intended a blockade. Did he mean to deny entry to ships of all nations or just German vessels? As he pointed out, a formal blockade would need to be announced by the government. Churchill climbed down. He had not meant a blockade; all he had wanted Milne to do was to lie in wait for any German warships that attempted to come out. Churchill had still not learned that signals was best left to the professionals.


No one emerged well from the Goeben fiasco. The navy was shocked at Troubridge’s refusal to pursue the German vessels; Churchill was downcast; and the failure of Milne and Troubridge brought the end to their sea-going careers. Milne was ordered to strike his flag and report to the Admiralty. Later the Admiralty backed their ineffective admiral with a fulsome statement of support, saying that his ‘conduct and dispositions’ had been ‘the subject of careful examination’ and ‘their Lordships have approved the measures taken by him in all respects’.9 Despite this, he was never employed again.


FIRST DAYS OF WAR


In order to recount the Goeben saga coherently we have moved deep into August. It is now time to return to the first full day of war and explore Churchill’s other opening activities as a war leader.


For years, the navy had assumed that the first day of war would see a mighty battle between the British and German fleets. But when dawn broke on 5 August, there was no sign of the German High Seas Fleet. Lord Jellicoe, with no enemy to fight, lay at anchor in Scapa Flow. He had to content himself with a message from the King – an ex-naval man himself – which told him of his sovereign’s confidence that he would ‘renew the old glories of the Royal Navy’ and provide ‘the sure shield of Britain and her Empire in the hour of trial’.10
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